CLERKOFTHE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 46824-7

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

In re the Marriage of

MICHAEL ST. GEORGE BENT,

Appellant,

v.

LASHANDRE NICHELE BENT,

Respondent.



PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael S. Bent Appellant, pro se

1115 SE 164 Ave Suite 210-S33 Vancouver, WA 98683 Tel: 360.907.1860

Email: msgbent@gmail.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Michael Bent, petitioner pro se, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals (CoA) decisions designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

CoA Division II filed its unpublished opinion July 7, 2015, affirming the Trial Court decisions and awarded attorney fees. Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does this Court acknowledge the Bent Parents and their children share a Fundamental Right of Association? RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(4)
- 2. Did the Trial Court's process for selecting LaShandre Bent as the Primary Custodial Parent clear constitutional criteria to permit the discrimination afforded by the Relocation Act? RAP 13.4(b) (1)(3)&(4)
- 3. Is a finding of fitness required to assign residency and is an unbiased assessment against RCW 26.09.187(3) required to first establish residency before applying RCW 26.09.520? RAP 13.4(b)(1)(3)&(4)
- **4.** Does this Court accept the US Supreme Court holding that individual rights are not disturbed by marriage and that right to property is an individual right? RAP 13.4(b) (1)(3)&(4)
- 5. Does this Court accept Armstrong's holding that statutes impacting Civil Rights are not presumed constitutional? RAP 13.4(b)(1)(3)&(4)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LaShandre* petitioned for dissolution on 6/10/2013 using an Ex Parte Temporary Restraint Order (TRO) to restrain Michael from returning to the family home and contacting their two children. The approving officer failed to validate LaShandre claims. At Trial 15 months later Judge Veljacic, the only judiciary to engage LaShandre, did not find her credible. Referring to evidence she used for the TRO, he said "I didn't find the testimony ... to be to the point where I would have 191 restrictions." Photograph of a gun she claims was Michael's was shown to be a forgery at Trial. RP 749-750.

Seemingly appealing to the Court's emotions, LaShandre attempts to paint a picture of herself as a dutiful stay-at-home mom who sacrificed her career for her children. Inconsistently she states "the parties agreed that LaShandre would quit her job" then asserts "LaShandre quit working in 1999 at Michael's request." BR 4 & 10. Although LaShandre testified at length that only she found C's daycare issue burdensome, the CoA mysteriously accepts without pause "she quit working, at Michael's request." RP 192-3 & Op 3. In fact, LaShandre refused to work for others and subordinate herself to authority. She wanted to be her own boss and squandered much attempting self-employment like Hannah Walters Group. RP 375. She completed a Marketing MBA costing \$45k expecting to secure a managerial position and rejected many job opportunities requiring

^{*} First name used for clarity. - 2 - No disrespect intended.

her to first establish herself and gain necessary experience in the field of marketing. Her 6 years of Healthcare experience afforded her great opportunities but not at the executive level she desired. RP 376-377. C corroborates her refusal to work and her unabated spending on personal luxury items contributed substantially to household stress and the martial decline. CP 40 at 3. Michael felt he was working himself to an early grave and was at his wits end with her haughty attitude and incessant demands. At Trial she deflects any personal responsibility, recasting as "threatened suicide" and feeling of "no value". BR 11. She adds "Michael wrote out his Will in summer 2010" causing her "concern" (BR 5), yet at Trial she testified she herself had requested it, corroborating the "Per your request" email subject line. RP 347.

LaShandre claimed Michael was violent and mentally unstable – declaring he was a danger to her, their children and the US Government. CP 11 ¶ 2.2. & RP 331. A thorough evaluation by Dr Dudley, a forensic psychologist showed Michael as a low risk of violence and confirmed he shared a loving relationship with both children who wanted more time with their father. CP 25C page 18 & RP 35.

LaShandre repeatedly pled to avoid evaluation while the Court gradually increased Michael's time with children. The Court approved a bilateral parenting evaluation but explicitly instructed that "no

psychological evaluation" of LaShandre was permitted. CP 48 ¶ 3.2. However, the appointed psychologist, Dr Poppleton administered a MMPI assessment of LaShandre revealing multiple very highly elevated scales. Ex 2 page 22. Michael had likewise submitted to a MMPI allowing Poppleton to contrast "her profile was blown up across various scales, where father's was not." RP 113. The CoA wrongly assumes a MMPI equates to "psychological testing on LaShandre" but, per Dr Poppleton the MMPI only allows, "raw-data hypotheses [that] would need some degree of corroboration," admitting that his failure to review his findings with LaShandre's counsellor was a "particular weakness of [his] evaluation." RP 156. Ironically her MMPI reveals she "present[s] herself in an overly favorable light" and needs "help with objectivity." These observations call into question her idealistic self-assessment. Ex 2 p 21 & p 33.

Michael remains concerned for their children being alone in her care without his moderating influence as in pre-separation. RP 88, 126 & 350. A conning convicted felon who befriended LaShandre also presents grave concern as she manipulates LaShandre's paranoia, leeches off her and has lived with the Bent children since separation. RP 351. Michael assures this Court his intention is not to belittle LaShandre but to highlight her need of care. Their children long for a warm, motherly relationship that she cannot now provide. Ex 2 at 22.

Acknowledged "separate" property of Michael's Traditional IRA and property owned exclusively by him were treated as "community". CP 117 ¶ 2.21. LaShandre acknowledged having received much during the marriage including almost \$40k spent on luxuries during 2012-2013, on costly cosmetic surgery and expensive vacations. RP 714, 255, & 257. She saved little of what Michael provided her. Ex 44 & RP 715.

The Parenting Plan is heavily influenced by the approved cross-country relocation. CP 119 § III. Michael has time with their children but compromises his fundamental interest in day-to-day association. RP 481. Michael holds joint decision authority but seeks close association to remain engaged in raising and educating their children. CP 119 § IV. However his time is burdened by long, expensive cross-country trips and he is removed from their daily lives. Given Michael's limited vacation, his association is limited to concentrated blocks of time around school holidays which does not compensate for week-by-week involvement in the normal schedule of their lives, and is further frustrated by LaShandre's relentless and unrepentant efforts, in defiance of court advice, to block contact with their dad by phone and internet. CP 119 § VI & RP 731.

This Court is cautioned that her supposedly "neutral" Statement of Case in her Response is her own uncorroborated self-assessment noted in Dr Poppleton's report. BR 2 & Ex 2 at 12-20. Similarly distorted are her

claims like "Michael left for 36 days without contact on an east-coast trip." BR 8. However, at Trial it was clear Michael "was on the phone with them at least once a day." RP 463.

In general the Trial Court's errors were in failing to take critical action like not applying RCW 26.09.187(3) (hereafter 187(3)). Of course failure to do so left no findings to challenge yet the CoA complains "Michael fails to assign error to the trial court's finding" though he clearly identified the Court's failure to use 187(3) as his claimed error. Op 9 & BA 20. The CoA dismisses Michael's claim that the relocation assessment was fatally flawed by the discriminatory favor granted LaShandre. Op 14. CoA focuses instead on the 11-factor study and fails to grasp the Court erred by overlooking the Constitutional hurdle required to acceptably discriminate between the Bent parents when it applied the Child Relocation Act (CRA).

Mysteriously, in apparent defense of the Trial Court, the CoA suggests a 187(3) analysis was completed de facto based simply on a single factor from the RCW 26.09.520 (hereafter 520). CoA stresses it is "given the greatest weight." Op 11. Undoubtedly absurd even if all 520 factors are used. A 520 analysis diverges from 187(3) as there are no biasing presumptions in applying 187(3) and results differ when evaluating seemingly identical factors. Dr Poppleton affirms this divergence when, in applying 520, he asserts each factor must be assigned a preferred parent.

He referred to the process as "the constraint" when evaluating 520. CP 97. The CoA's assertion is absurd, misleading, mysterious and perplexing.

The CoA likewise dismisses Michael's submission of blurred lines between the Trial Court and the County as they are likely unaware of the practices of County Family Courts. Clark County and its Family Courts have mutually aligned interests through the Washington State Division of Child Support (DCS) that breaches the expected separation of powers. The Family Courts and County are intertwined.

As noted on appeal, the County has a financial interest in the federally funded Child Support Performance and Incentive Act (H.R.3130). The Act established what is commonly called "Title IV-D" (42 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.) and in Washington State, the DCS administers Title IV-D Grants. Per WAC 388-14A-1015, "(1)(a) Title IV-D of the Social Security Act sets out the federal requirements for a state's support enforcement program." WAC 388-14A-1060 adds, "(1) ... DCS is authorized to enter into cooperative ... financial arrangements with the appropriate *courts* ... to assist DCS in administering the state plan for support enforcement. ... (3) DCS shares the federal funds it receives under 42 U.S.C. 655 according to the cooperative and financial agreements." Appendix E [*Emphasis added*]. The cooperative financial arrangements authorized between DCS and the Family Courts were not available for inspection but the Clark County

auditor's office offered: "Grant funds are required to be used in the program for which the grant was awarded." Appendix B. In 2013 alone Clark County received \$1.7M from DCS as incentives earned primarily by and payable to its Family Courts. Appendix B Audit Statement.

For the lucrative Title IV-D Federal Program to be utilized, a support obligation must be established and one parent must be classified as the "custodial parent." 42 U.S.C. § 654(4)(B). Appendix C. The Trial Court is authorized by RCW 26.09.285 to assign the parent with whom the child resides the majority of the time as custodian of the child. Appendix D. This seemingly simply step radically alters the life of each parent. Here, the custodial parent, LaShandre, enjoys day-to-day association with the Bent children free from government oversight while Michael, the noncustodial parent, is limited to blocks of time with their boys, is burdened with payments to LaShandre and dutifully performs under threat of jail time. Given these classifications were utilized for a Federal program, Federal criteria should have instead been used in classifying LaShandre as the custodial parent for purposes of Title IV-D. While Title IV-D does not proscribe guidelines, Federal Court opinions provide good guidance for State Courts and their precedent will better withstand Federal scrutiny.

The Federal "Incentive Payment to a State" provided under Title IV-D is derived by a complex algorithm established by 42 U.S.C. § 658a.

Essentially the "Incentive Payment to a State" is determined mostly by the "State Collections Base" and the "Establishment of child support orders %". Simply increasing the "State Collections Base" (the total sum of Support Orders) and "Establishment of child support orders %" (percentage of cases with Support Orders) will increase the Federal Incentive Grant Payments. As such the Trial Court can greatly influence its incentive bonus by its choice of custodial parent and support arrangements. LaShandre secured the services of DCS and all support payments since separation were processed via DCS. Michael's Support Orders adds to the "State Collections Base" and generates incentive payments for DCS which it shares with the Clark County Courts. Michael estimates the Trial Court will earn \$19,000 in Federal Incentive bonus payments from his expected lifetime support payments.

See Appendix G for summary of these factors, Appendix C for 42 U.S.C. § 658a and Appendix F for DCS's FQA. The "State Collections Base" is not limited to Child Support but includes all "order[s] of an administrative process established under State law, for support and maintenance of a minor child which is owed to or on behalf of such child, or for support and maintenance of the noncustodial parent's spouse (or former spouse) with whom the child is living." 42 U.S.C. § 666 (e).

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Constitutional violations in dissolutions, established by outdated traditions and only maintained by precedent, are so socially engrained as to be inconspicuous even to Courts. CoA regales Michael for challenging "well-settled areas of law" ignoring the Constitution stands supreme.

CoA's opinion echoes with disbelief, asserting "no reasonable minds might differ" but ignores Supreme Court opinions without explanation except to label as "meritless constitutional issues." Op 15. This Court should grant review to resolve conflicts with Supreme Court opinions and because this case presents issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

Current practices incite antagonism, hostility and oftentimes bankruptcy.

Michael challenges the Trial Court's procedures and the divorce decree using constitutional arguments carefully adapted from Supreme Courts. His brief conforms to prior briefs that were accepted by this Court and will be more readily understood by this Court though foreign to CoA.

It is better for the Bent children for both parents to share custody, be charged by the Court to provide for the children's support and to live in geographical proximity so the children can maintain strong relationships with each parent. Although we live a modern society, parenting is best accomplished face-to-face and not by Skype, text or email.

1. This Court should accept review to affirm parents & children share a Fundamental Right of Association. RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(4)

The CoA rejected outright Michael's claimed right of association with their children. Quoting King, the CoA counters essentially that the Parenting Plan "does not terminate either Parent's parental rights" and Michael's interests in parent-child association "in this proceeding is not a fundamental parental liberty interest." Op 6-7. However, as developed in his brief, King fails to consider the parents' right of association and instead only considers their legal rights as parents. The CoA's rejection of the right of association as fundamental, directly conflicts with prior opinions of this and higher Courts holding this fundamental right is central and necessary to raising and educating children. The CoA offers no reason why this Court's opinion was invalid, only that it "lacks merit."

"[F]reedom of 'expressive association' and freedom of 'intimate association.' ... are protected [for such] relationships [that] attend the creation and sustenance of a family, including ... raising and education of children." American Legion Post No. 149 v. Wash. State Dept. of Health, 164 Wn.2d 570, 595, 192 P.3d 306 (2008).

"[F]reedom of association receives protection as a fundamental element of personal liberty." <u>Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees</u>, 468 U.S. 609, 618 (1984).

Infringing a fundamental right must clear strict scrutiny to assure equal protection of the parents' interests. Scrutiny is not reduced by the parties' presumed equivalency but is enhanced given the right is fundamental.

"Equal protection requires that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike [and] is aimed at securing equality of treatment by prohibiting hostile discrimination. Under the equal protection clause, the appropriate level of scrutiny depends on the ... rights involved. ... Strict scrutiny ... applies to laws burdening fundamental rights or liberties." Am. Legion, 192 P.3d at 600.

The CRA discriminates between parents using classification based on residency, affording preferential treatment to the primary custodial parent. This bias triggers equal protection concerns. Michael's fundamental right to parent-child association was implicated and ...

"equal protection analysis requires strict scrutiny of a legislative classification ... when the classification ... interferes with the exercise of a fundamental right" Mass. Bd. of Retirement v. Murgia, 427 U.S. 307, 312 (1976).

Only when a child is substantially more dependent on one of its parents, is there a compelling State interest to justify preferentially treatment. By rejecting this Court's opinion in <u>Post</u> the CoA moots Michael's argument and plea for justice. This Court should grant review to resolve this conflict with the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b) (1) & (4).

2. This Court should accept review to clarify the Constitutional threshold that must be cleared to permit discrimination inherent to the Relocation Act. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(3)&(4)

The CoA did not grasp the notion that simply identifying LaShandre as the "parent with whom the child[ren] is scheduled to reside the majority of the time" (custodial parent) did not suffice constitutionally

in this case to permit discrimination between the Bent parents. Given the CRA relies on the State's parens patriae power, the RA's purpose must focus on the Bent children's well-being and any discrimination authorized by the CRA must strongly relate to that compelling state purpose. Meaning the CRA cannot validly be used to discriminate against Michael unless the Bent Children's well-being is at stake.

"In a case like this, the Equal Protection Clause requires more than the mere incantation of a proper state purpose". <u>Trimble v. Gordon</u>, 430 U.S. 762, 769, 97 S.Ct. 1459, 52 L.Ed.2d 31 (1977).

In some cases the well-being of a child is substantially more dependent on the custodian and allows the CRA to be constitutionally applied. Here however, neither Bent child is substantially more dependent on LaShandre than on Michael. Both Bent boys are self-reliant though need a parent who can guide them towards responsible adulthood and is willing to provide. LaShandre is unwilling to provide and acts irrationally. Discriminating between the Bent parents as the Court did in affording LaShandre the CRA's presumptive bias, violated Michael's fundamental right of association and per Munoz was therefore manifest abuse of discretion. The CoA rejects this argument is relevant to the CRA without comment and simply overlooks this Court's prior holding.

"[W]here the trial court does not follow the generally established rule of noninterference [with fundamental rights] in child custody cases without an affirmative showing of compelling reasons for such action, we are of the opinion that this is tantamount to a manifest abuse of discretion." Munoz v. Munoz, 79 Wn.2d 810, 814, 489 P.2d 1133 (1971).

In its general discussion on Equal Protection Claims, the CoA asserts "the record contains no basis to conclude that the state is responsible for any classification" assigned to Michael causing him to be treated differently from LaShandre. Op 8. However, among others, the decree classifies Michael as Obligor and LaShandre as Obligee. The Parenting Plan ¶ 3.12 further classifies LaShandre as Custodian for "federal statutes which require a designation" such as the Title IV-D program. Use of this Federal program, entitling the Court to Federal Incentives, required a substantial relation to the children's well-being.

"[A] statutory classification ... must rest upon some ground of difference having a ... substantial relation to the object of the legislation, so that all persons similarly circumstanced shall be treated alike." <u>Caban v. Mohammed</u>, 441 U.S. 380, 391, 60 L.Ed.2d 297, 99 S.Ct. 1760 (1979).

Here, the state goal is to ensure the Bent children are adequately cared for and the only relevant attribute is that of being a fit parent. Only if one parent is unfit does the Constitution permit the Court to treat the Bent parents differently. No explicit finding of fitness or unfitness was made.

Title IV-D, per 42 U.S.C. § 658a(c) provides incentive funds to both states when there is interstate relocation like here and makes custodial determination yet more important to ensure wise use of Federal funds. As

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