RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 29, 2015, 12:06 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 92117-2

. .

RECEIVED BY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage Of:

Michael St. George Bent,

Appellant,

۷.

LaShandre Nichele Bent,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Shelby R. Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

###

#### INTRODUCTION

. .

Michael Bent asks this Court to take review of an unpublished opinion unremarkably affirming the trial court's highly discretionary decision on relocation and parenting. Michael neglects to mention that the appellate court held that his appeal is frivolous, nor does he seek review of that holding. His Petition is equally frivolous.

The trial court permitted LaShandre Bent to relocate with the parties' teenage children, finding – among other things – that LaShandre has been the primary residential parent since their birth, and is best suited to help them adjust to the divorce. The court's ruling is entirely consistent with the parenting evaluator's recommendations, and is supported by substantial evidence. Michael did not challenge any of the court's findings or even address the order's substance. The appellate court correctly affirmed.

On appeal and here, Michael asserts a bevy of constitutional arguments, most raised for the first time on appeal, inadequately briefed, and previously rejected by our courts. There is no conflict, where the appellate court followed lockstep this Court's apposite cases. There is no substantial public interest in this run-of-the-mill dissolution and relocation matter.

This Court should deny review and award LaShandre fees.

#### FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# A. The appellate court correctly held that Michaels' appeal was frivolous, a point he neglects to mention here.

As the appellate court correctly noted in its unpublished decision, it was difficult to understand issues on appeal as basic as which trial court orders Michael appealed from. Unpub Op. at 1 n.1. This made responding to Michael's appeal unusually difficult and time consuming. It is no less difficult to understand Michael's Petition for Review.

The appellate court began it analysis be properly declining Michael's request to treat him leniently because he is *pro se*, noting the court must treat *pro se* litigations the same as attorneys. Unpub. Op. at 5. The court also noted that Michael failed to assign error to any factual findings, so they are verities on appeal. *Id*.

The appellate court noted the Michael's many constitutional arguments raised for the first time on appeal, were unclear, lacked adequate development and legal support, and lacked merit. Unpub. Op. at 6-9. The court rejected each of these meritless claims, ultimately ruling that Michael's appeal was frivolous and awarding LaShandre fees. Unpub. Op. at 14-15. Michael does not address this point.

B. In this straightforward dissolution and relocation case, the trial court exercised its broad discretion to permit LaShandre Bent's requested relocation, consistent with the parenting evaluator's recommendations.

• •

The appellate court's opinion accurately sets forth the facts relevant to the appeal, and LaShandre will not repeat them here. Unpub. Op. at 1-4. There are, however, statements in Michael's Petition that warrant correction.

Michael misleadingly states that the trial court "did not find [LaShandre] credible," referring to LaShandre's request for RCW 26.09.191 restrictions. Pet. at 2. The trial court did not remotely question LaShandre's credibility, stating only that it was not persuaded that Michael presented a threat to LaShandre. RP 724-25.

For pages, Michael criticizes LaShandre's parenting, her lifestyle, and her work ethic. Pet. at 2-4. He continues his refrain that LaShandre is unable to properly parent the children and that he wants her to get psychological help for a mental illness only he imagines. *Id.* In stark contrast, Michael presents himself as a wonderful father who is far more adept at parenting than is LaShandre. *Id.* at 3-4. The picture Michael paints is at odds with the trial court's unchallenged findings, verities on appeal.

Parenting evaluator Dr. Landon Poppleton went through the

relocation factors at length, ultimately opining that LaShandre should

be permitted to relocate. BR 18-21; Ex 2. The trial court agreed,

relying heavily on Dr. Poppleton's report and recommendations. CP

104-06; RP 720-730. The appellate court accurately summarized

the findings as follows (Unpub. Op at 3-4)<sup>1</sup>:

On August 20, 2014, the trial court issued an oral ruling. The trial court found Dr. Poppleton's report and testimony to be "very instructive and reliable." VI RP at 724. On October 10, 2014, the trial court entered written findings of fact and conclusions of law, a dissolution decree, a permanent parenting plan, a child support order, and an order on objection to relocation.

The trial court designated La Shandre as the primary custodial parent because, based on the testimony of Dr. Poppleton, La Shandre, and Michael, she spent the majority of the time with the children. After considering each RCW 26.09.520 relocation factor, the trial court ordered that La Shandre could relocate with the children. The trial court entered the following written findings based on the factors enumerated in RCW 26.09.520: (1) La Shandre and Michael both have a strong relationship with the children, but La Shandre has been more involved with the children's lives. (2) Although there is no agreement for La Shandre to relocate with the children. La Shandre and Michael had previously significantly discussed moving the family to Florida and the evidence presented supports that they agreed a move to Florida would be beneficial for the children. (3) It would be more detrimental to disrupt contact between the children and La Shandre and she will be the better parent to help the children work through changes resulting from the move to Florida than Michael. (4) Restrictions under RCW 26.09.191 do not apply. (5) La Shandre sought the relocation in good faith, and Michael objected in good faith. (6) Although there will be adjustments to new schools in Florida and negative effects of moving the children, there is no evidence of physical detriment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Michael's complaint that the trial court failed to apply RCW 26.19.187 is addressed in the argument section below. Pet. at 6-7.

and no detriment sufficient to rebut the presumption. (7) This factor does not apply because the quality of life in both locations is comparable. (8) The parenting plan provides an "alternate arrangement sufficient to continue the children's relationship with [Michael]." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 105. (9) This factor does not apply. (10) The financial benefits to La Shandre and the children outweigh the cost. (11) The trial court did not consider this factor because it was making a final decision. [Footnote omitted.]

#### **REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW.**

# A. The appellate court's unpublished decision is consistent with this Court's decision in *Marriage of King*.

Michael first asks this Court to take review to establish that

there is a fundamental right to a parent child association. Pet. at 11-

12. Contrary to Michael's suggestion, the appellate court did not hold

that parents have no right to "associate" with their children. Id.

Rather, the court held that parents' fundamental rights to the care-

and custody of their children are not implicated in dissolution

proceedings in the same manner that they are implicated in

dependency proceedings. Unpub. Op. at 6. Basing its analysis on

this Court's decision in Marriage of King, the appellate court

explained:

. .

In support of his argument, Michael relies on *In re the Marriage of King*, 162 Wn.2d 378, 386, 174 P.3d 659 (2007). But his reliance is misplaced. In that case, our Supreme Court held that in dissolution proceedings, the trial court must balance the rights of both parents and further held that fundamental constitutional rights are not implicated as in a termination or dependency proceeding. *King*, 162 Wn.2d at 385. "The entry of a parenting plan effectuating the legislative

purpose of continued parental involvement in the children's lives does not equate to an action where the State is seeking to terminate any and all parental rights and parental involvement with the children, severing the parent-child relationship permanently." King, 162 Wn.2d at 385. The entry of a parenting plan is a statutory requirement when children are involved in the marriage, and entry of such does not terminate either parent's parental rights. King, 162 Wn.2d at 385. Rather, it allocates parental rights to ensure that the parents may still exercise those rights. King, 162 Wn.2d at 385. "Even where a parenting plan results in [children] spending substantially more, or even all, of ... [their] time with one parent rather than the other, both parents remain parents and retain substantial rights, including the right to seek future modification of the parenting plan." King, 162 Wn.2d at 386; RCW 26.09.260.

This case is a dissolution proceeding with a parenting plan, not a termination or dependency proceeding. The state is not a party to the proceedings and had no say in determining how La Shandre's and Michael's residential time was divided. Michael provides no developed argument as to why the parenting plan does not effectuate the legislative purpose of continued parental involvement. Thus, the interest at stake in this proceeding is not a fundamental parental liberty interest. We reject Michael's argument.

Unpub. Op. at 6-7 (quoting In re Marriage of King, 162 Wn.2d 378,

174 P.3d 659 (2007)). In short, the appellate court correctly followed

this Court's precedent. There is no conflict or issue of substantial

public interest.

. .

# B. The Relocation Act does not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

Though it is difficult to ascertain Michael's next argument, it

appears to be that the Relocation Act violates the Equal Protection

Clause by "discriminating" between parents without a threshold determination that one parent is unfit. Pet. at 12-15. The appellate court rejected Michael's equal protection argument, correctly holding that "Michael cites no case supporting his claim that the state has drawn any distinction or classification to which he is subject. In addition, the record contains no basis to conclude that the state is responsible for any classification." Unpub. Op. at 8. The same is true here. Petition at 12-15.

. .

Michael now asserts that designating him the obligor parent and LaShandre the obligee violates the Equal Protection Clause. Pet. at 14. This assertion is entirely unsupported. *Id.* Requiring the parent with vastly more income and vastly less residential time to pay child support is not an equal protection violation. Nor does it violate the Equal Protection Clause to designate LaShandre a "custodian" for the sole purpose of complying with federal statutes. Pet. at 14.

The "rules" Michael proposes would completely erode much of Washington's statutory framework and common law governing parenting plans, child support, modifications, relocations, and other matters, orders and pleadings related to children. This Court should deny review.

C. The appellate court correctly held that the trial court properly considered applicable statutes.

. .

Michael appears to argue that the trial court improperly applied RCW 26.09.520 only, neglecting to apply RCW 26.09.187.

Pet. at 15-16. As the appellate court held, however, the trial court

properly applied the statutory factors in .187, noting in particular

findings that LaShandre has been the primary residential parent,

providing the day-to-day parenting since the children were born and

that separation from LaShandre would be detrimental:

Here, the trial court considered all of the evidence presented at trial and properly applied the statutory factors contained in RCW 26.09.187(3)(a). In particular, the trial found that the evidence showed the children demonstrate a good relationship with each parent and La Shandre has been the primary parent, carrying the demands of day-to-day parenting. RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(i), (iii). The trial court acknowledged the importance of the children spending significant time with Michael at "this stage in their lives" and gave more time to Michael with the children than Dr. Poppleton recommended. VI RP at 730; RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(iv). But the trial court also found that separating the children from La Shandre would be detrimental and determined that the children should reside primarily with her.

... The trial court also heard testimony regarding Michael's employment and included provisions for telephone access in accordance with Michael's schedule. RCW 26.09.187(3)(a)(vii). Because the trial court based its residential provision decision on the statutory factors set forth in RCW 26.09.187(3)(a) and on the evidence presented, its decision was not based on untenable grounds or manifestly unreasonable. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it established the residential provisions in the parenting plan. Unpub. Op. at 11-12. This issue certainly does not merit this Court's review.

### D. LaShandre's parental fitness was (and is) not at issue.

. .

Michael also argues that this Court should take review to hold that a trial court must find that a parent is fit before awarding primary residential parentage under RCW 26.09.187. Pet. at 15-16. The appellate court correctly declined to consider Michael's similar argument that the State's "parens patriae duty obligated it to assure the Bent children were entrusted to fit parent(s)." Unpub. Op. at 9 n.7 (quoting BA 28). As in the Petition, that argument was "unclear, misplaced, and unsupported by any legal basis." Unpub. Op. at 9 n.7. In any event, the multi-factor tests in RCW 26.09.187 and 26.09.520 are plainly sufficient to ensure that children are placed with fit parents.

#### E. Child support is not an unlawful taking.

While again difficult to ascertain, Michael appears to argue that child support, and perhaps also maintenance and the property distribution, are unlawful takings. Pet. at 16-20. Characterizing child support as a "penalty," Michael appears to argue that he cannot be ordered to pay child support unless he refuses to care for the children, or is "convicted of violating LaShandre's rights." Pet. at 18-

19. Michael made similar arguments on appeal, claiming that the "huge financial burdens" the trial court imposed violated due process. Unpub Op. at 8 (quoting BA 39). The appellate court properly declined to consider that argument, where it was nothing more than a naked casting into the constitutional sea. Unpub Op. at 8-9.

.

In addition to being entirely unsupported, Michael's argument would result in a huge injustice if adopted. Throughout the appellate process, Michael has argued that if a parent needs child support, then the trial court must designate the other party the primary residential parent so long as he is fit. According to Michael, any other result unconstitutionally infringes on the economically-advantaged spouse's property rights. In other words, Michael proposes that the dispositive factor in determining residential placement is who has more money. This absurd proposition does not warrant this Court's review.

# F. The appellate court's decision is consistent with this Court's many decision holding that statutes are presumed constitutional.

Finally, Michael asks this Court to take review to announce that statutes affecting fundamental rights are not presumed constitutional. Pet. at 20. The appellate court correctly rejected Michael's request for a declaratory judgment on this point, citing

three of this Court's opinions holding that statutes are presumed constitutional and that the burden of establishing unconstitutionality is on the challenger. Unpub. Op. at 5 (citing *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015) (challenging the former Washington State Liquor Control Board's spirit licensing fee structure); *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571 (2006) (arguing that suspending his commercial driver's license for failing to pay child support violated procedural and substantive due process); *In re Marriage of Johnson*, 96 Wn.2d 255, 258, 634 P.2d 877 (1981) (challenging the constitutionality of statute governing child support collection services)).<sup>2</sup> Again, there is no conflict here – the appellate court followed this Court's precedent. *Id*.

# G. This Court should award LaShandre fees incurred in responding to Michael's Petition.

Michael neglects to mention that the appellate court held that his appeal is frivolous, awarding LaShandre fees on that ground, and also based on her need and Michael's ability to pay. Unpub. Op. at 14-15; RCW 26.09.140; RAP 18.9. Michael does not claim that the fee award was erroneous or ask this Court to review it. This Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The appellate court also noted that it was not the proper forum to entertain Michael's request for a declaratory judgment. Unpub. Op. at 5.

should order Michael to pay LaShandre's fees incurred responding to his Petition. RAP 18.1.

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